
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

3 November 2014  

 

Meeting time: 

14.30 

 

For further information please contact:  

Gareth Williams 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8008/8019 

CLA.Committee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

1 Introduction, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest   

2 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 21.2 

or 21.3  (Pages 1 - 2)  

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 1 – Statutory Instruments with clear reports 

Negative Resolution Instruments 

 

CLA452 - The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (Wales) (No.2) 

Regulations 2014   

Negative procedure; Date made: 29 September 2014; Date laid: 9 October 2014; 

Coming into force date: 7 November 2014 

 

CLA453 - The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(Amendment) (Wales) (No.2) Order 2014   

Negative procedure; Date made: 29 September 2014; Date laid: 9 October 2014; 

Coming into force date: 7 November 2014 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

CLA454 - The Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Management Committees etc.) (Wales) 

Regulations 2014   

Negative procedure; Date made: 7 October 2014; Date laid: 9 October 2014; Coming 

into force date: 31 October 2014 

 

CLA455 - The Official Feed and Food Controls (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 

2014   

Negative procedure; Date made: 8 October 2014; Date laid: 10 October 2014; 

Coming into force date: 6 November 2014 
 

 

Instruments that raise issues to be reported to the Assembly under Standing Order 

21.2 or 21.3   

 

CLA453 - The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(Amendment) (Wales) (No.2) Order 2014  (Pages 3 - 37) 

CLA453 - The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(Amendment) (Wales) (No.2) Order 2014 

Negative Procedure: Date Made: 29 September 2014; Date Laid: 9 October 2014 

Coming into force date: 7 November 2014 

 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 2.5a – Report  

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 2.5b – Regulations 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 2.5c – Explanatory Memorandum  

 
 

3 Papers to note  (Pages 38 - 54)  

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 2 – Letter from the EU Commissioner regarding UK Driftnet 

Fishers 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 3 – Letter to the EU Commissioner regarding UK Driftnet 

Fishers 

 

 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 4 – Letter from Chair of the European Scrutiny Committee 

regarding Driftnet Fishing 

 

 



CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 5 – Welsh Government response to the Committee’s inquiry 

into Disqualification of Membership from the National Assembly for Wales 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business:    

(vi) the committee are deliberating on the content, conclusions and 

recommendations of a report it proposes to publish; or is preparing itself to take 

evidence from any person; 

 

Welsh Composite Instruments  (Pages 55 - 64) 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 6 – Welsh Composite Instruments 

 

Review of the Children's Commissioner for Wales  (Pages 65 - 68) 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 7 – Background paper 

 

Mid Term Review  (Pages 69 - 87) 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 8 – Mid Term Review 
 

 

Draft Report  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Bill  (Pages 88 - 129) 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 9 - Draft Report 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 10 - Architecture 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 11 - Legal Advice note 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 12 - Legal Advice note – Well-being 
 

 

Draft Report Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) 

Bill  (Pages 130 - 150) 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 13 – Draft Report 

 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 14 – Letter from the Minister 
 

 

Draft Report Financial Education and Inclusion (Wales) Bill  (Pages 151 - 183) 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper 15 – Draft Report 

 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper  16 – Letter from the Minister, 16 September 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper   17– Letter from Bethan Jenkins AM 

CLA(4)-26-14 – Paper  18 – Letter from the Minister,18 October 



Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 

Statutory Instruments with Clear Reports 

 3 November 2014 

 

 

 

CLA452 - The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (Wales) (No.2) 

Regulations 2014 

 

Procedure: Negative 

 

Some minor developments can be undertaken without planning permission. 

These permitted development rights (PDRs) can however be withdrawn by 

the Welsh Ministers or local planning authorities. Such withdrawals do not 

prevent the development, but require planning permission to be obtained. 

 

These Regulations provide that: 

 

 when PDRs are withdrawn; and  

 a subsequent application for planning permission is refused or 

approved subject to new conditions, 

 

the Welsh Ministers or the local planning authorities are, in certain 

circumstances, not liable to pay compensation for losses directly attributable 

to the withdrawal. 

 

 

CLA453 - The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(Amendment) (Wales) (No.2) Order 2014 

 

Procedure: Negative 

 

This Order amends the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 in relation to Wales. Specifically, it amends the 

‘permitted development rights’ that apply to electronic communications 

operators in Wales. The Order contains many detailed amendments. Some of 

the main changes are: 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

 existing mobile phone masts may be altered or replaced to increase 

their height from up to 15 metres to up to 20 metres, and they may be 

increased in width by up to a third, 

 

 an increase in the number and size of antennas that can be attached to 

certain buildings, 

 

 the placing of telegraph poles, cabinets or broadband lines will not 

prior require approval in areas such as National Parks and AONBs, 

provided that certain conditions are met. 

 

 

CLA454 - The Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Management Committees 

etc.) (Wales) Regulations 2014 

 

Procedure:  Negative  

 

These Regulations, which come into force on 31 October 2014, require local 

authorities to establish management committees to run pupil referral units  

in their area, and make provision for the constitution and procedures of such 

committees. 

 

 

CLA455 - The Official Feed and Food Controls (Wales) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2014 

 

Procedure: Negative 

 

Usually, sprouts seeds imported from third countries (i.e. countries outside 

the EU) must satisfy general EC hygiene standards. However, the EC has 

noted that third countries are failing to meet those standards. Therefore, the 

EC has decided to provide derogation until 1 July 2015. Until then, sprouts 

seeds need only satisfy specific microbiological tests, carried out in the third 

countries prior to export. 

 

These Regulations implement that derogation in Wales. 

Pack Page 2



 

 

 

Pack Page 3



MARIA DAMANAKI 

MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION 

B-1049 BRUSSELS 

Brussels, 22.10.2014 
МК/pb CAB (2014) 3725223 

Dear Chair, 

Thank you for your letter which reached me on September 24th on the issue of the Commission's 
driftnet proposal. I am happy to inform you that the meeting of my services with the UK driftnet 
fishers and representatives of the fishing sector was held on September 17th as scheduled. 

The meeting was attended by 9 UK driftnet fishers or fishermen's representatives (around 20 people 
had been invited to the meeting) representing the National Federation of Fishermen's Organizations 
(NFFO), the New Under Ten Fishermen's Association (NUTFA), the West Mersea Fishermen 
Association, the Hasting Fishermen's Protection Society and the Clovelly driftnet fisheries. 
Unfortunately, representatives of the driftnet Welsh Fisherman's Association Ltd could not attend. No 
information was therefore provided on the distribution of driftnets in Wales. 

During this meeting, my services and the representatives of the UK sector had a very open and frank 
discussion on all the issues at stake, both in terms of process and scope of the Commission proposal. 

The meeting was a good opportunity to gather further information about the state of knowledge related 
to this fishing activity and the impact on fish stocks. It appears that there are still important gaps in 
terms of assessment of the use of driftnets and on their possible effect on the ecosystem. 

My services also informed the representative of the sector that we are only at the start of the legislative 
process and that the proposal will now be discussed in the Council of Ministers and in the European 
Parliament. 

Let me underline again that the Commission will continue listening carefully to all concerns voiced 
and will promote contacts with Member States, regions and stakeholders to further exchange 
information. 

My services have indeed written to Member States requesting further information on the driftnet 
fisheries to better grasp all issues at stake. This will facilitate a fruitful dialogue in support of the 
legislative process also through regional meetings as required. 

Yours sincerely, 
f; j ! 
ľ· 

•4 

Mr David Melding AM 
Chair of Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
CLA. Committee@ wales. gov. uk 

Pack Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Pack Page 4



Pack Page 5



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Carwyn Jones AC/AM 
 Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

Ffacs * Fax 029 2082 1879 
YP.PrifWeinidog@cymru.gsi.gov.uk • 

ps.firstminister@wales.gsi.gov.uk   

 

Our ref/Ein cyf: MB-FM-4465-14 
 
 
David Melding AM  
Chair, Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee  
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay  
CF99 1NA 
 
 
                 22nd October 2014 
 
 
Dear David, 
 
Inquiry into the Disqualification of Membership from the National Assembly for Wales 

 
I am writing further to my letter of 03 September, when I suggested that the Welsh 
Government would provide its response to your report following consideration in the House 
of Lords of Lord Thomas of Gresford’s amendment to the Wales Bill. I also suggested that 
the debate on your report could then take place in early November, so that the Assembly 
could be informed of the result of consideration of the amendment when debating the 
report. 
 
As you may be aware Lord Thomas of Gresford’s amendment was considered on 13 
October. While this amendment was not voted on by the Lords, there was some informative 
discussion on the issue of disqualification from Assembly membership, and a commitment 
from  Baroness Randerson, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State at the Wales Office, to  
work with the Welsh Government on this issue. 
 
I now enclose the Welsh Government’s response to your report. I note that the Assembly 
debate on your report is to take place on the 05 November, and I hope that the Welsh 
Government’s response will also help to inform that debate. 
 
My thanks once again for the Committee’s work on this inquiry. 
 
I am copying this letter to the Minister for Finance and Government Business.  
 

Yours sincerely 

                                                                    
CARWYN JONES  

Pack Page 6



 

REPORT OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS 
COMMITTEE, “INQUIRY INTO THE DISQUALIFICATION FROM MEMBERSHIP 

OF THE NATIONAL ASSEMBLY FOR WALES” ( pub. July 2014) 
RESPONSE OF THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 

 
Introduction 
 
1. The Welsh Government is particularly grateful to the Committee for this Report. 

The inquiry was undertaken at the Government’s request (a somewhat novel 
procedure), and the result is an extremely useful Report which has stimulated 
some fresh thinking on our part about this difficult, but fundamentally important, 
issue. The fact that, as will be seen below, we are not able to agree with each 
and every recommendation which the Committee has brought forward in no way 
diminishes the value of the Report, to the Government and we would suggest to 
the Assembly also.  

 
2. The background to the inquiry, as the First Minister’s letter to the Presiding 

Officer of January 2014 (reproduced as Annexe 1 to the Report) makes clear, is a 
concern to avoid in 2016 what happened in 2011: the election of two individuals 
as Assembly Members who, as it subsequently became known, held offices 
which under the relevant Order in Council in force at the time were inconsistent 
with their taking up their Assembly responsibilities. In the event, one person was 
enabled to become a Member, and one was not; but in the Welsh Government’s 
view the Assembly probably suffered reputational damage in having, immediately 
following the elections, to deal over some weeks with a matter very far from the 
electorate’s concerns. We must do whatever we can to avoid such a situation in 
2016. 

 
The Report: Some General Observations 
 

3. As noted above, the Committee’s Report has given the Government an 
opportunity to think afresh about our general approach to the issues, and it may 
be helpful before responding to the individual recommendations to set out some 
general observations. 
 
(i) Conflating the Issues? 

 
4. First, we now think that the root of many of the difficulties around disqualification 

is that the principal legislation, sections 16-19 of the Government of Wales Act 
2006 (“GOWA”), conflates two matters which should be kept separate. The first 
such matter is an individual’s right to be a candidate in public elections; in 
accordance with the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights under 
Article 3 of Protocol 1 to the Convention, this should be generally available to 
adult citizens, and it will only be in relatively limited circumstances that such a 
right to candidacy should be denied as a matter of law. The second matter is one 
of conflict of interest: the Assembly, and voters, have a legitimate expectation 
that any person elected to the Assembly should be capable of discharging his or 
her responsibilities without fear or favour, uninhibited by the simultaneous holding 
of offices which may allow a perception to arise that an individual’s contribution to 
the Assembly’s work may be inappropriately constrained.  

Pack Page 7



 

 
5. Section 16(1)(a) of GOWA identifies five classes of persons who “are disqualified 

from being an Assembly member”: judges, civil servants, members of the armed 
forces, members of police forces, and members of foreign legislatures. Section 
16(1)(c) and (d) likewise disqualify the Auditor-General for Wales and the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales. Section 16(4) disqualifies from Assembly 
membership anyone holding office as lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high sheriff for 
a part of Wales and whose constituency or electoral region encompasses or 
includes the area for which service in that office is being given.  

 
6. In the Government’s view, the mischief aimed at here is to prevent the holders of 

such offices engaging in any public political activity (including electoral 
candidacy) at all, because they need at all times publicly to demonstrate political 
impartiality in the discharge of their existing responsibilities. The matter can be 
tested in this way: if a person covered by any of these disqualifications presented 
himself or herself as a candidate, then engaged in the ensuing public/political 
debate, but was unsuccessful at the election, could he or she reasonably expect, 
and would the public generally expect him or her, to be able to return to their 
original employment or office, regardless of opinions expressed on matters of 
political controversy during the election campaign?  The Government’s view is 
that would not be acceptable, and so the policy should be that individuals falling 
within any of these categories should be disqualified from being candidates at 
Assembly elections (unless they beforehand permanently divest themselves of 
the disqualifying office or employment, without possibility of return/ 
reappointment); they fall within the narrow category of people whose right to be a 
candidate has to be abridged in the interests of wider public policy 
considerations. 

 
7. This situation can be contrasted with that of conflict of interest. Here, we think the 

policy should be that individuals holding offices which, if they were elected, might 
be thought to constrain their ability properly to discharge their Assembly 
responsibilities, should be able immediately after election to resign those offices: 
in other words, and consistently with the Convention jurisprudence, their right to 
candidacy should not be inhibited, but if elected they should only be able to serve 
as Assembly Members if any potential conflicts of interest are removed. 

 
8. The provisions in GOWA, and in particular the Order-making powers available to 

the Assembly under GOWA, do not reflect this position, and apply the same 
penalty of disqualification from Assembly membership (as distinct from 
disqualification from candidacy) to individuals falling into either category. It is not 
likely to be possible to secure amendments to these provisions before the next 
Assembly elections in 2016, but the Welsh Government will pursue this issue with 
the UK Government with a view to securing reform in the next Parliament. 

 
(ii) Staff of Public Bodies 

 
9. Another class of individuals disqualified from membership of the Assembly, by 

virtue of s.16(1)(e) of GOWA, are those “employed as a member of the staff of 
the Assembly” itself. This raises a specific, but also more general issue. The 
current National Assembly for Wales (Disqualification) Order (SI 2010/2969), 

Pack Page 8



 

which was in force for the 2011 Assembly elections, specifies a large number of 
disqualifying offices, but in certain instances (for example the Children’s 
Commissioner, the Older People’s Commissioner) also specifies that members of 
staff supporting the holders of those offices should also be disqualified.  
 

10.  If we start from the position that individuals should be able to offer themselves 
for elected public office save in exceptional circumstances, it is not at all obvious 
why the staff of some public bodies (but not all) should be disqualified in this way. 
The Welsh Government is inclined to think that, with the possible exception of 
Assembly Commission staff mentioned above, the next Assembly Disqualification 
Order should not make disqualifying provision for the staff of any public body, and 
instead leave it to the public body concerned to manage any situation arising if a 
member of staff becomes a candidate at the Assembly election. (And it can fairly 
be assumed that any successful such candidate would resign their employment 
on election as an Assembly Member, since continuing in the employment of the 
public body while discharging Assembly responsibilities would make impossible 
demands on the individual). 

 
Transparency 
 
11. The background to the difficulties mentioned in paragraph 2 above in relation to 

2011 was confusion about exactly which offices were to be regarded as 
disqualifying for the purposes of the 2011 elections.  Producing and effectively 
publicising a new Disqualification Order will not however fully address this 
problem. The list of disqualifying offices is derived from several sources (GOWA, 
the Disqualification Order in force at the time, together with any relevant 
provisions made by extant Assembly legislation), and in certain instances there 
appears to be repetition; as previously noted, holding the office of Auditor 
General for Wales disqualifies an individual from membership of the Assembly by 
virtue of GOWA s. 16(1)(c), but the 2010 Disqualification Order also specifically 
disqualifies the Auditor General for Wales and members of his or her staff. 
 

12.  Given these various sources for disqualification provisions, it may be extremely 
difficult for any potential candidate to be sure that he or she has not inadvertently 
infringed any of the prohibitions. In addition, therefore, to bringing forward a new 
draft Disqualification Order in 2015, the Welsh Government intends, working as 
necessary with the Electoral Commission, to produce a comprehensive, non-
statutory, list of all of the disqualifying provisions of which we are aware, from 
whatever source, and make it publicly available to parties and potential 
candidates.  

 
Law Commission 
 
13. Finally, we mention a matter of less significance in the present context, but of 

wider importance. The Committee in two of its recommendations has proposed 
that the Welsh Government should ask the Law Commission to investigate and 
report on two matters. The Welsh Government shares the Committee’s 
enthusiasm for working with the Law Commission (and welcomes the provision in 
the current Wales Bill that will make this much easier), but we need to bear in 
mind both that the Commission’s resources are limited, and that its services are 

Pack Page 9



 

not a free good; it will frequently be the case that the Welsh Government will 
have to fund any work specifically requested of the Commission. We hope 
therefore that Committee recommendations for reference of matters to the 
Commission will be both sparing and strategic in their approach. In the present 
case, the Welsh Government intends to address the issues raised in the 
particular recommendations in a different way to that proposed by the Committee.  

 
  

Pack Page 10



 

The Welsh Government’s responses to the Committee’s Recommendations 
 
Recommendation 1. we recommend that the following principles, or ones similar  to 
them, should inform who should be disqualified from membership of the National 
Assembly for Wales:  
 

Principle 1: Promoting democratic participation and the right to stand as an 
Assembly Member are paramount. 
 
Principle 2: Disqualification from membership of the National Assembly for 
Wales should be restricted to as few citizens as possible. 
 
Principle 3: Political activity is inappropriate for some citizens in order to: 

i. protect the independence of the electoral process; 
ii. prevent conflicts of interest arising on election; and 
iii. protect certain public offices from political bias. 

 
Principle 4: The following citizens should be affected by a disqualification 
order: 

i. those whose role involves an over-riding requirement for impartiality, 
including those whose responsibilities include the electoral process 
itself; 
ii. those who hold any public office which carries with it a significant 
financial benefit from the Welsh Government; 
iii. those who hold public office and in that role provide formal advice to 
the Welsh Government; 
iv. those who hold any public office which is subject to scrutiny by the 
Assembly. 

 
Principle 5: Where disqualifications are necessary they must be: 

i. in line with these principles; 
ii. clear and unambiguous; 
iii. proportionate.  

 
Response: Accept in Principle. 
 

14. This recommendation is broadly consistent with the general approach we set out 
in paragraphs 4-8 above, in recognising that while most citizens should be 
encouraged to stand for elected public office, a limited class of people should not 
be permitted to be candidates by reason of their holding their current office or 
employment. However, and understandably given the current legislative position, 
the Committee expresses this in terms of disqualification from membership of the 
Assembly; the Welsh Government would after 2016 prefer the policy to be 
achieved, for many of those mentioned in this recommendation, by way of  
disqualification from candidacy. 

 
 
Recommendation 2. we recommend that the UK Government brings forward 
appropriate legislation to amend the Government of Wales Act 2006 to provide that 
disqualification from a particular public office should take effect on taking the oath or 

Pack Page 11



 

affirmation of allegiance as an Assembly Member. This change should not apply to a 
very limited number of posts—as specified in section 16 of the 2006 Act or by 
order—where being a candidate would, for example, give rise to a conflict of interest 
or appear to undermine impartiality.  
 
Response: 
 
15. This is a matter for the UK Government, but as noted in paragraph 8 above, 

the Welsh Government will want to pursue this general approach with that 
Government following the 2015 General Election. 

 
 
Recommendation 3. we recommend that the UK Government brings forward 
appropriate legislation to remove the relevant provisions in The National Assembly 
for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 2007 requiring candidates, when 
accepting nomination, to declare that to the best of their knowledge and belief, they 
do not hold a disqualifying office. 
 
Response: 
 
16. This is a matter for the UK Government, but the Welsh Government will seek 

to discuss the issues with that Government ahead of the making of the equivalent 
Order for the 2016 Assembly elections. 

 
 
Recommendation 4. we recommend that the Welsh and UK Governments ask the 
Law Commission to investigate and report on the various legislative options for 
delivering recommendation 2, and to make a recommendation on what it would 
consider to be the most appropriate, potentially as part of a wider review of this issue 
across all UK legislatures.  
 
Response: Reject 
 
17. Given our general approach to Law Commission referrals set out in paragraph 13 

above, the Welsh Government is not persuaded that a reference on this matter 
would be appropriate. 

 
18. The Committee’s report has however already raised the profile of this issue and 

put it on the political agenda, and we believe it should be possible to take forward 
reforms without referring to the Law Commission. An amendment to the Wales 
Bill tabled by Lord Thomas of Gresford on 9 October proposed that section 16 of 
the Government of Wales Act 2006 should be amended so that, where offices are 
disqualifying offices because they are included in the Disqualification Order in 
Council, they are not disqualified from standing and have an 8 day grace period 
following election to resign the disqualifying office. This amendment was 
discussed during Committee stage in the House of Lords on 13 October.  
Baroness Randerson, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Wales, was 
supportive of the purpose of Lord Thomas’ amendment, and undertook to work 
with the Welsh Government on these issues.  She agreed that “only those offices 

Pack Page 12



 

for which there is a strong case for inclusion” should be included in the next 
Disqualification Order. 

 
19. While it is for the Welsh Government to lead on the Disqualification Order under 

section 16, and for the Wales Office to lead on any Secretary of State order 
under section 13 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 dealing with conduct of 
Assembly elections, we welcome this commitment to work together.  We will be 
looking for legislative changes prior to the 2021 Assembly elections, with a view 
to pursuing the approach outlined in your recommendation 2.  For the 2016 
Assembly elections, we will bring forward a draft Disqualification Order for 
consultation in the New Year, on the basis of the approach we have outlined in 
our response to recommendations 12 and 13 below.  

 
 
Recommendation 5. we recommend that the UK Government amends section 16 of 
the Government of Wales Act 2006 to ensure that any disqualifications it contains 
are set out fully rather than by reference to other legislation and that all 
disqualifications it specifies take effect on nomination. 
  
Response: Accept in part 
 
20. Given the reference to nomination, we take this recommendation to mean that 

s.16 should be amended to focus on disqualification of a limited range of 
individual office-holders, and members of a limited range of classes, from 
candidacy at Assembly elections. On that basis the Welsh Government accepts 
the recommendation and will pursue the matter with the UK Government 
(although we think it likely that s.16 would need to be repealed and replaced, 
rather than amended, to achieve the desired result). In practice, however, we 
doubt that even a completely new provision would be able to stand alone, and we 
envisage taking order-making powers to enable us to keep up to date the list of 
those who should be debarred from candidacy. 

 
 
Recommendation 6. We recommend that the UK Government amends section 
16(1) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 to remove the Auditor General and 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, so that they may be included in an 
appropriate disqualification order with other offices.  
 
Response: 
 
21. This is a matter for the UK Government, but the Welsh Government’s initial 

view is that if it is agreed to replace s.16 of GOWA with a provision as described 
in our response to recommendation 5, that provision should include mention of 
these two offices, among others, as ones disqualifying the holders from 
candidacy (as well as providing for order-making powers to enable us to keep up 
to date the list of those who should be debarred from candidacy). 

 
 
Recommendation 7. We recommend that the UK Government amends section 
16(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 so that a person who holds office as 

Pack Page 13



 

lord-lieutenant, lieutenant or high sheriff should be disqualified from being an 
Assembly Member.  
 
Response: 
 
22. This is a matter for the UK Government but the Welsh Government would 

support an amendment to debar the holders of these offices from electoral 
candidacy (and the offices could be mentioned alongside references to the 
Auditor General and the Public Services Ombudsman in a replacement for s.16 
of GOWA as described in our response to recommendation 7) 

 
 
Recommendation 8. We recommend that the Welsh and UK Governments, in 
asking the Law Commission to investigate and report in line with recommendation 4, 
also include a requirement to advise on the implications of retaining, replacing or 
removing section 17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006.  
 
Response: Reject 
 
23. We have set out our general approach to Law Commission references in 

paragraph 13 above, but we have particular concerns about s.17(3) and are not 
persuaded that it should remain a part of a reformed statutory scheme about 
disqualification. The subsection enables the Assembly in effect to waive a breach 
of the disqualification rules if the ground of disqualification has been removed and 
“if it is proper so to resolve”. It is not clear to the Welsh Government why the 
Assembly should in future have such a power if, as proposed in recommendation 
2, a successful candidate is enabled immediately after election to divest himself 
or herself of a disqualifying office and then proceed to assume Assembly 
responsibilities. Further, in reality the exercise of this power by the Assembly is 
very likely to be influenced by party political considerations, and there is the 
potential for reputational damage to the Assembly if the electorate’s choices can 
appear to be frustrated in such circumstances. The Welsh Government 
concludes therefore that for the Assembly to possess the power in s.17(3) is 
undesirable, and in any event it should not be necessary if recommendation 2 is 
given effect. 

 
 
Recommendation 9. We recommend that any future legislative change to section 
17(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 should only proceed following 
consultation with, and the consent of, the National Assembly for Wales.  
 
Response: Accept. 
 
24. The Welsh Government anticipates that changes to the existing statutory 

disqualification regime, including any in relation to s.17(3), would be the subject 
of consultation, and would require the consent of the Assembly via a legislative 
consent motion. 

 
 

Pack Page 14



 

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the order for the 2016 Assembly general 
election should specify two categories of persons who should be disqualified:  

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from nomination because of the 
nature of their role.  
Category 2: those who should be disqualified from return as an Assembly 
Member.  

 
Recommendation 11. We recommend that the order for the 2021 Assembly general 
election should specify two categories of persons who should be disqualified:  
 

Category 1: those who should be disqualified from nomination because of the 
nature of their role.  
Category 2: those who should be disqualified having been elected but only 
from taking the oath or affirmation of allegiance.  

 
Response: Reject. 
 
25. The Welsh Government is wholly in sympathy with the thinking behind 

recommendations 10 and 11, but as was mentioned in paragraph 8 above, the 
Order-making powers currently available to us do not reflect the important 
distinction the Committee makes, and it will not be possible to proceed for the 
2016 Assembly elections as the Committee proposes. The order-making powers 
the Welsh Government would wish to take in a reformed statutory regime for 
disqualification would however enable us to proceed in the way proposed for 
2021 and beyond. 

 
 
Recommendation 12. We recommend that an order drafted for the 2016 Assembly 
general election to disqualify persons from nomination as an Assembly Member 
should include (but not necessarily be limited to) the following:  
 

Auditor General for Wales  
Children‘s Commissioner for Wales  
Civil Service Commissioner 
Commissioner for Equality and Human Rights  
Commissioner for Older People in Wales  
Commissioner for Public Appointments  
Comptroller and Auditor General  
Her Majesty‘s Chief inspector of Education and Training in Wales 
Local Government Boundary Commissioner for Wales 
Members of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales  
Members and Staff of the Electoral Commission Parliamentary Commissioner 
for Administration  
Returning Officers and local authority staff involved in the electoral process  
Statutory deputies of the persons in this list  
Welsh Language Commissioner  

 
Response: Reject. 

 

Pack Page 15



 

26. Our current order-making powers do not enable us to disqualify persons from 
nomination for Assembly elections, they only permit us to disqualify persons from 
Assembly membership (but as explained above, we will want in the future to take 
order-making powers permitting the debarring of a limited range of individual 
office-holders, and members of a limited range of classes, from candidacy). 

 
27. For the 2016 Assembly elections, insofar as the persons listed above are not 

already disqualified from membership by virtue of section 16 of the Government 
of Wales Act 2006, we will consult on the disqualification of these persons from 
membership through the Disqualification Order we intend to take forward under 
the current order-making powers.  In practice, of course, if these persons are 
included in our Disqualification Order, then they would have to resign from their 
offices when they are nominated as candidates, assuming the Secretary of 
State’s Order under section 13 of GOWA 2006 requires candidates for election to 
declare, to the best of their knowledge ad belief, that they are not disqualified 
from membership. 

 
 
Recommendation 13. We recommend that an order should be drafted for the 2016 
Assembly general election that disqualifies the following persons on return as an 
Assembly Member:  
 
Members of judicial tribunals  
Persons appointed by Welsh Ministers  
Staff of local authorities not included in category 1  
Staff of National Park, Police, Fire and Rescue Authorities  
Staff of the organisations referred to in category 1  
Staff of Welsh Government Sponsored Public Bodies  
 
Response: Accept in part 
 
28. We agree it would normally be appropriate that “Persons appointed by Welsh 

Ministers” should be disqualified, but each case will need to  be considered on its 
own merits, and the statutory language to give effect to this will need to be 
carefully considered. We similarly agree that Members of judicial tribunals should 
be disqualified. However, for the reasons set out in paragraphs 9-10 above, we 
are not currently persuaded that it would be appropriate to disqualify from 
Assembly membership the large numbers of public service staff described in 
recommendation 13. This is particularly the case under our current order-making 
powers, as we cannot specify when the disqualification will bite.  However, we 
believe it may not be necessary to disqualify large numbers of public service staff 
even if we could provide that the disqualification only applies upon return as an 
Assembly Member, as we could safely assume that they would not be able to 
continue with their employment as a member of staff of a public body and 
discharge their responsibilities as an Assembly Member at the same time. 

 
 
Recommendation 14. we recommend that, in preparing a disqualification order for 
the 2016 Assembly general election, the Welsh Government consults widely on its 
contents, including in particular, all those organisations that it covers.  

Pack Page 16



 

 
Response: Accept. Our intention is to begin consultation on a draft Order in 
Council early in 2015. 
 
 
Recommendation 15. we recommend that the disqualification order for the 2016 
Assembly general election is drafted, consulted on and made no later than 12 
months before the date of that election.  
 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
29. The Welsh Government is fully persuaded of the need to have a new Order in 

Council in place as early as possible. However, following publication of the 
Committee’s Report in the summer, the First Minister wrote to the Presiding 
Officer, noting some potential difficulties in precisely meeting the Committee’s 
suggested timetable, and setting out a proposed way forward (including making 
provision for consultation as required by recommendation 14); that letter is at 
Annexe 1. The Chair, on behalf of the Committee, has agreed that the First 
Minister’s proposal, which would lead to a draft Order in Council being submitted 
to the Privy Council in June or July 2015, is acceptable.  

 
 
Recommendation 16. we recommend that the disqualification order for the 2016 
Assembly general election is made bilingually in the Privy Council.  
 
Response: Accept.  We will pursue this with the Privy Council Office as 
necessary. 
 
 
Recommendation 17. we recommend that every public body in Wales reviews its 
rules governing political activities to ensure that all staff are clear about the internal 
rules that apply in the event that they wish to seek nomination for, and are eventually 
successful in, election to the National Assembly for Wales. Such rules should take 
account of any legislation that arises from this report and be subject to review at 
least 2 years before Assembly general elections that take place after 2016.  
 
Response: Accept in principle. 
 

30. This recommendation is fully in accord with our general approach in relation to 
the staff of public bodies, that (with the possible exception of the staff of the 
Assembly Commission) they should be eligible to seek elected public office. We 
will give further consideration to how this recommendation should be 
communicated to, and given effect by, Welsh public bodies.  

 
 
Recommendation 18. we recommend that the Welsh Government reviews the 
terms of appointment and guidance it gives to appointees, sponsored bodies and 
other relevant bodies regarding political activity.  
 
Response: Accept. 

Pack Page 17



 

 
Recommendation 19. we recommend that the Electoral Commission reviews its 
existing guidance on disqualification from membership of the National Assembly for 
Wales to ensure it is comprehensive and covers all of the relevant policy issues and 
legislation that apply.  
 
Response: 
 
31. This is a matter for the Electoral Commission, but as noted in paragraph 12 

above, the Welsh Government intends to produce a comprehensive, non-
statutory, list of all of the disqualifying provisions of which we are aware, from 
whatever source, and make it publicly available to parties and potential 
candidates; and we will work with the Electoral Commission as necessary on this. 

 
 
Recommendation 20. we recommend that the Welsh Government commissions an 
independent review of the feasibility of holding a dual mandate as an Assembly 
Member, and local authority councillor (including having regard to: the potential for 
conflicts of interest, time commitments involved and issues of public perception) and 
to make recommendations.  
 
Response: Agree in principle.  
 
32. The Welsh Government accepts that this is an issue that merits careful 

consideration and public debate, but we are not persuaded of the need to 
commission an independent review of the matter to facilitate that. Early in 2015 
we will be publishing, in connection with our programme of local government 
reform, a White Paper inviting views on a wide range of relevant issues, and it will 
be appropriate to include this issue as one on which to seek views. Any ensuing 
new statutory provision could then be included in the Local Government Bill to 
give effect to local authority mergers, which we intend to introduce shortly after 
the next Assembly election in 2016. 

 
 
Recommendation 21. we recommend that the UK Government prohibits the 
practice of standing as an Assembly Member and a Member of the House of Lords, 
but that such a prohibition should not be applied to anyone who is currently serving 
as a member of both institutions.  
 
Response: 
 
33. This is a matter for the UK Government. It is not however clear to the Welsh 

Government what has led the Committee to this conclusion. Membership of the 
House of Lords does not seem of itself to produce a potential conflict of interest 
with Assembly membership, either in terms of competing time commitments 
(attendance at the House of Lords is largely voluntary) or competing interests. 
Matters would however be likely to be different if members of the House were to 
gain their positions through election, and provisions equivalent to those contained 
in the current Wales Bill in respect of simultaneous membership of the Assembly 
and the House of Commons would then presumably be necessary. 

Pack Page 18



 

 
 

Conclusion 
 

34. The Welsh Government reiterates its appreciation for the Committee’s work, and 
looks forward to hearing Members’ views on these important issues. 

 
October 2014 

 

Pack Page 19



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 20

Agenda Item 4.1 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 27

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 30

Agenda Item 4.2 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 34

Agenda Item 4.3 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 41

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 51

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 53

Agenda Item 4.4By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 80

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 82

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 90

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 95

Agenda Item 4.5By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 115

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 116

Agenda Item 4.6 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 137

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 144

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 148

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3
	3 Papers to note
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 3
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 4
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 5
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 5A

	4.1 Welsh Composite Instruments
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 6 Annexe 1
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 6 Annexe 2
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 6 Annexe 3

	4.2 Review of the Children's Commissioner for Wales
	4.3 Mid Term Review
	CLA (4)-26-14 - Paper 8 Annexe 1
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 8 Annexe 2

	4.4 Draft Report  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Bill
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 10
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 11
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 12

	4.5 Draft Report Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 14

	4.6 Draft Report Financial Education and Inclusion (Wales) Bill
	CLA(4)-24-14 - Paper 16
	CLA(4)-24-14 - Paper 17
	CLA(4)-26-14 - Paper 18


